1979

Karen R. Hofmann v. Elizabeth S. Sullivan : Appellant's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action for damages arising from the breach of
an agreement to convey real property.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The Plaintiff and Defendant both moved for summary judgment in this matter. The lower court denied Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment and granted Defendant's motion for summary judgment.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff requests that this Court reverse the summary judgment granted in favor of Defendant and enter a judgment

in favor of Plaintiff in the sum of \$9,450.00, or in the alternative that the case be remanded to the trial court for the purpose of awarding damages to Plaintiff for breach of the agreement.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A different aspect of this case involving many of the same facts was before this Court recently in Case No. 15742 involving the same parties. The case was argued before the Court on February 21, 1979. The prior and present appeal both center around the same lease agreement and in particular, paragraphs 13. and 14. of that agreement which are as follows:

"13. Upon expiration of this lease, the Lessee shall have first right of refusal in signing of a lease for this premises, and first right of refusal in acceptance of the sale of said premises.

14. Upon expiration of this lease (or before if mutually agreed upon) the Lessee shall be able to apply one hundred dollars (\$100.00) per month of the above agreed rental upon the sale price of the premises, set at this date as Forty nine thousand five hundred dollars (\$49,500.00). If the Lessee does not wish to exercise this option, the full amount of monthly rental shall be reverted to rental only and considered as obligation to carrying out terms of the lease."

In the prior appeal, Appellant claimed that paragraph 14. gave her an absolute option to buy the premises at the expiration of the lease for the price stated. The Third Judicial District Court for Salt Lake County, Honorable Bryant H. Croft presiding, denied Plaintiff's claim stating that paragraphs 13. and 14. must be read together and that the effect of the two paragraphs so combined was to give Appellant only a conditional option to purchase the premises if and when Respondent decided to sell. Appellant's prior appeal was therefore based in part on Judge Croft's interpre-

tation of the document as stated, Appellant's position being that paragraphs 13. and 14. were separate and distinct.

Appellant's second action resulting in the present appeal was brought for the reason that Respondent did in fact decide to sell the premises and did in fact sell the premises to a third party without first offering the premises to Appellant and without notifying the Appellant of the sale. The sale of the property to the third party was finalized on January 13, 1978, ten days before judgment in the prior action was entered. The sale price to the third party was \$57,750.00, cash. (Defendant's Answers to Plaintiff's First Set of Interrogatories, No.'s 2., 3., and 6.)

Appellant commenced the instant action after learning of the sale of the premises to a third party. Appellant and Respondent both moved for summary judgment in the lower court. Appellant moving for summary judgment in the amount of \$9,450.00 or in the alternative for a summary judgment in Appellant's favor on the issue of liability only. Respondent brought her motion for summary judgment on the theory that Appellant's right to purchase the premises expired at the expiration of the lease, October 14, 1977. On December 28, 1978 the lower court filed a memorandum decision and the order denying Appellant's motion for summary judgment and granting Defendant's motion for summary judgment was entered on January 9, 1979.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

AS A MATTER OF LAW, RESPONDENT HAS BREACHED THE WRITTEN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PARTIES AND APPELLANT IS ENTITLED TO A JUDGMENT FOR THE RESULTING DAMAGES.

The written agreement is attached to Plaintiff's Complaint and is also attached to Defendant's Affidavit Supporting Motion for Summary Judgment. The agreement provides for the lease to Appellant of a certain dwelling owned by Respondent. Pursuant to the lease provisions, Appellant entered into possession for the one year term ending on the 14th day of October, 1977. Appellant paid to Respondent the monthly rent provided in the agreement. (Affidavit of Hofmann, No. 3)

The agreement provided in part the following:

"13. Upon expiration of this lease, the Lessee shall have first right of refusal in signing of a lease for this premises, and first right of refusal in acceptance of the sale of said premises.

14. Upon expiration of this lease (or before if mutually agreed upon) the Lessee shall be able to apply one hundred dollars (\$100.00) per month of the above agreed rental upon the sale price of the premises, set at this date as Forty nine thousand five hundred dollars (\$49,500.00). If the Lessee does not wish to exercise this option, the full amount of monthly rental shall be reverted to rental only and considered as obligation to carrying out terms of the lease."

On January 13, 1978, Respondent sold the subject property to a person other than Appellant for the cash price of \$57,750.00, Appellant was given no notice of the intended sale nor was

Appellant offered an opportunity to be the purchaser at said sale. Appellant would have purchased the subject property had it been offered to her. (Affidavit of Hofmann, No. 5. and 6.)

Appellant's claim that Respondent breached the agreement is based on Paragraph 13. of the agreement which grants a right of first refusal in acceptance of the sale of the premises upon expiration of the lease. The nature of a right of first refusal was explained by the Utah Supreme Court in the case of Russell v. Park City, Utah Corp., 548 P.2d 889 (1976). Therein the Court stated at page 891:

"We note awareness that what is often called 'the right of refusal' is not the same as an option, wherein the optionee has a definite right to purchase, whereas, the right of refusal has no effect until and unless the party granting it . . . decides to sell."

A right of first refusal therefore continues until the event of sale. The grantor of the right controls the length of time during which the right of first refusal continues by his decision as to whether or not to sell. Since the right of the grantee to purchase arises only when the grantor decides to sell, no date of expiration for the right need be stated or determined as in the case of an option where the optionee is granted an absolute right to purchase during a certain time period.

In accord with the foregoing discussion is the case of Cummings v. Nielsen, 42 Utah 157, 129 P. 619 (1912). The agreement therein provided for the sale of certain shares of

stock and in addition provided:

" . . . and also to give an option on all their or either of their interest in the estate of Julian Moses, deceased, or refusal to purchase the same at a price as low as any other bona fide offer for it or any portion of it . . ."

The appellants in that case claimed that the agreement granted them the right to purchase the property when the respondents decided to sell. The appellants established at trial that the property had been sold approximately nine months after the above agreement was signed, and further established that the sale was made without the knowledge or consent of appellants. In response to the respondents' argument that the agreement was unfair because it contained no time limit, the Court made the following comments:

"Counsel contend that it appears from the face of the agreement that it is unfair because it contains no limit of time within which the option should be exercised. This objection has no merit, because no time limit was necessary under the terms of the agreement. The option was to become effective only in case the Nielsons desired to sell their interest in the land mentioned in the agreement. If they did not wish to sell, they were not bound to do so; but, if they did intend to sell, then under the agreement they bound themselves for a valuable consideration expressed therein to give the appellants the option, or, as it is expressed in the agreement, 'refusal to purchase', the interest mentioned . . ." Cummings at 165

In the instant case, the written agreement which was drafted by the Respondent provides that the Appellant's right of first refusal commences upon expiration of the lease, October 14, 1977. Respondent states in her affidavit dated

May 16, 1978, that she sold the subject property on January 13, 1978 to a person other than Appellant. Appellant was given no notice whatsoever of the intended sale as stated in Appellant's affidavit. Respondent has therefore breached the agreement and Appellant is entitled to a judgment for the resulting damages as a matter of law. The Court in Cummings stated at page 165:

"If the Nielsons desired to sell they were thus required to give Mr. and Mrs. Cummings an opportunity to purchase - that is, the refusal to purchase the interest in the lands. This is too plain for cavil, because by the term 'refusal to purchase' everybody knows what is meant, although the condition may not be fully expressed. What is meant thereby is that, if the owners of the interest in question desired to sell it, they must communicate that fact to the party holding the option to purchase, and thus give the latter an opportunity to purchase or to refuse to do so. If the latter refuses, he has fully exercised his option. If, however, he then expresses his willingness to purchase, the question of price arises."

The matter of price and damages is addressed in the next point of argument.

POINT II

THE AGREEMENT OF PARTIES PROVIDES
THAT APPELLANT IS ENTITLED TO
PURCHASE THE PROPERTY FOR THE
SUM OF \$48,300.00.

As mentioned in the Statement of Facts, the written agreement between the parties has been the subject of prior litigation and appeal to this Court. Paragraph 14. of the agreement refers to an option at the sale price of \$49,500.00. The same

paragraph provides that the Lessee (Appellant) shall be able to apply \$100.00 per month of the rental payments towards the sale price, resulting in the sale price of \$48,300.00.

In the prior action, Judge Croft found that paragraph 14. did not grant Appellant an absolute option to buy the property at the price stated. Judge Croft's reasoning was as follows:

"And you read paragraph 13 and paragraph 14 together, and I do not find that it is a clear, unequivocal option to the plaintiff to buy at the end of the lease period should she elect to do so. Rather, I think that the rather clear intent is that if the defendant decides to sell at the end of the lease period, or before if the parties agree, you see, then the plaintiff would have the first right of refusal. And if she exercised the right to buy upon the defendant deciding to sell then under paragraph 14 a hundred dollars a month of her monthly rentals would be applied to the purchase price." (Tr. motion for new trial, p. 14 ln. 20-29, presently part of record in Supreme Court No. 15742)

"If the plaintiff exercised her right to buy, exercised her first right of refusal by deciding to buy, then under paragraph 14, I don't think there is any question that she would be able to apply \$1,200.00 of the rental paid to the purchase price set out in that paragraph." (Tr. plaintiff's motion for new trial, p. 15, ln. 10-15, presently part of record Supreme Court No. 15742)

Judge Croft's position is that because paragraph 13. which grants a right of first refusal precedes paragraph 14. granting the option at a fixed price, the combined effect is to give Appellant the right to purchase upon the stated price in

paragraph 14. only in the event Respondent decides to sell. Since the Respondent did subsequently did decide to sell, Appellant should therefore have been allowed to purchase at the price of \$48,300.00. If this were not the case, paragraph 14. would have no application whatsoever in the agreement. If Appellant cannot demand to purchase the property at the stated price upon the expiration of the lease as she attempted to do with the assistance of the courts in the prior action, and if Appellant is not allowed to have the benefit of the stated price now that Respondent has decided to sell the property, then Appellant's rights under the agreement are merely a fiction.

It should be noted that Appellant's status in the negotiation of this agreement was that of tenant and Respondent's status was that of landlord. It was established without dispute in the prior action and in this action by way of Appellant's affidavit that Respondent was entirely responsible for the drafting and preparation of this agreement and that the Appellant as a tenant was merely presented with the agreement for signature. As this Court has observed in Bonneville on the Hill Co. v. Howard N. Sloane, 572 P.2d 402, 403 (Utah 1977):

"In view of the dispute which has arisen, the meaning of that covenant quoted above should be determined from the language of the lease, and the circumstances in which it was used, as manifesting the intent of the parties. In that connection, a foundational rule is that if there is any doubt or uncertainty in the language, it should be strictly construed against the plaintiff landlord, who furnished the lease and required the tenant to sign."

There is no equity in the proposition that a landlord can draft a lease and therein dangle the opportunity to purchase the leased premises at a stated price before the eyes of the tenant and then after receiving the consideration of rental payments during the lease period, snatch away the tenant's benefit of the bargain which only matures when the lease period expires.

POINT III

APPELLANT IS ENTITLED TO DAMAGES IN THE
SUM OF \$9,450.00, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE
A NEW TRIAL TO DETERMINE DAMAGES.

It is the well settled rule in Utah that the measure of damages for failure to convey real property is the difference between the market value of the property at the time of breach and the purchase price agreed upon. In accordance with the foregoing discussion, Appellant should have been allowed to purchase the property for the agreed price of \$48,300.00. The Respondent states in her Answers to Interrogatories that the property was advertised in the newspaper and that the property was sold for the cash price of \$57,750.00. For the purposes of this appeal, Appellant does not dispute the sum of \$57,750.00 as the market value of the property. No other evidence of market value was offered in this action although the Respondent testified at the trial in the prior action that she recently obtained an appraisal for \$58,500.00. (Tr. p. 43, ln. 18-23) Assuming that the price at which the property was

actually sold is in fact market value, Appellant's damages are fixed at \$9,450.00. In the alternative, Appellant requests this Court remand this matter to the lower court for the purpose of awarding damages. This relief is consistent with Appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment in the lower court where it was moved in the alternative for summary judgment as to liability only with the matter of damages being reserved for trial.

CONCLUSION

The Court below committed reversible error by finding that Appellant's right to purchase the property was extinguished at that exact point in time when the lease expired. According to the express words of the agreement, Appellant's right came into existence only upon expiration of the lease and if that right expired at the same time it did not exist for any practical purpose. The correct view of a first refusal right was pronounced by this Court in the Cummings case where it was held that such a right continues until the grantors decision to sell at which time the grantor must first offer the sale to the holder of that right. If a right of refusal were held to exist only at the instant in time at which it were granted, the grantor would simply delay his decision to sell and escape any duty to the holder of the right who has paid a consideration therefore.

According to the view expressed by Judge Croft, at the time of Respondent's decision to sell, Appellant should have been offered the opportunity to purchase the property at \$48,300.00. Respondents sale to a third party for the sum of \$57,750.00 denied Appellant the benefit of her bargain in the amount of \$9,450.00 which Appellant is entitled to judgment therefore. In the alternative, Appellant requests that this case be remanded to the lower court for determination of damages.