1979

Karen R. Hofmann v. Elizabeth S. Sullivan : Respondent's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action to collect damages from Defendant's sale of her condominium, which had been previously leased to Plaintiff.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

At the hearing of Plaintiff's and Defendant's Motions for Summary Judgment, it was stipulated that no facts were in issue. The Court determined that the lease between the parties granted a conditional first right of refusal to Plaintiff to re-lease, or to buy in the event Defendant decided to sell, before or at the end of the lease period.

However, since there was no lease or sale at the expiration of the lease, Plaintiff's conditional right did not accrue. The Court said that the right did not indefinitely continue to any date in the future when Defendant might decide to sell or lease.

Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment was denied, and Defendant's

cross motion granted.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks a reversal of the Summary Judgment. Defendant asks
for an affirmance.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Court is familiar with this case, Plaintiff having appealed Judge Bryant H. Croft's decision at the trial which denied Plaintiff's first Complaint, Case No. 15742.

The lease agreement between the parties granted Plaintiff a first right of refusal in re-leasing or buying the property at the expiration of the lease, on October 14, 1977.

"13. Upon expiration of this lease, the Lessee shall have first right of refusal in signing of a lease for this premises, and first right of refusal in acceptance of the sale of said premises."

The facts are undisputed that Defendant notified the Plaintiff on October 5, 1977, that she would not be leasing or selling the property at the expiration of the current lease, as she needed the condominium for family use, and consequently, the first right of refusal would not arise. In spite of this notice, Plaintiff filed a Complaint to force Defendant to sell, and was denied specific performance or damages after trial, November 22, 1977. Defendant's Counterclaim for unlawful detainer was also denied. Plaintiff thereafter moved out. Later, when the family problem had straightened, Defendant decided to sell on January 13, 1978. Plaintiff again filed a Complaint to force an alleged continuing right of first refusal at whatever time Defendant sold or again leased her property.

Judge Durham decided such a right as Plaintiff asserts was an untenable limitation on Defendant's right to dispose of the property (Page 2,

Paragraph 2, lines 6 and 7 of Judge Durham's Memorandum Decision dated December 28, 1978). Defendant was granted a summary judgment.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

A RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL TO A LEASE OR SALE
IS CONDITIONAL UPON THE GRANTOR'S DESIRE
TO LEASE OR SELL

Appellant agrees and Utah cases confirm the point of law that a first right of refusal is conditional upon the Grant's desire to sell or lease.

A Utah case is cited in American Jurisprudence (49 Am Jur 2d 384, 368) for this holding. Chournos v. Evona Investment Company, 97 Utah 335, 93 P 2d 450, concerns a lease giving the co-tenants the first opportunity to purchase the leased land for the price lessor would receive from other parties. Such a provision did not constitute an option without the lessor's notice that he desired to sell.

When the lessor did give notice, it was well before the lease terminated. Chournos then tried to exercise his first opportunity, but his exercise was not according to the lease terms. He sought a unilateral, rather than a joint exercise with his co-tenant. The Court denied his complaint for specific performance.

Applying this law to our facts, the Sullivan lease also had a provision giving a first right of refusal, which could develop into an option had the lessor given notice that she desired to sell -- on the contrary, before the lease terminated, she gave notice that she did not desire to sell or lease again. The conditional first right did not accrue.

POINT II

THE DURATION OF A RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL TO A LEASE
OR SALE DEPENDS UPON THE TERMS EXPRESSED
IN THE LEASE PROVISION

The general rule is that all rights and provisions in a lease are terminated at the end of the lease term. (10 ALR 2d 885). The rationale is that the lease, its covenants and considerations, are interwoven and indivisible and they are so dependent on each other that the lease is essential to enforcement of rights under it.

Whether or not this general rule applies to a narrower issue such as the duration of a specific right of refusal, depends upon the express terms in the particular clause or the instrument granting the right.

The case which appellant cites, Russell v. Park City Utah Corp., 548 P 2d 889, discusses this point:

"In this instance, for the purpose of determining whether this right of refusal survived the termination of the lease, we think the same rule applies as that which governs options contained in leases: that is, if by the express terms of the option, it can be seen as independent of the other covenants of the lease, and is supported by a valid consideration, it can continue . . ." (Russell, pp. 891, 892)

The Court cited Chournos approvingly, and looked at the lease language. The grant in the Russell lease is expressed as "during the entire term of the lease." However, the lease was forfeited and prematurely terminated. The Court held that the Russell right of first refusal was intended as an integral part of the total composite of the lease; and when the lease was forfeited and terminated, this covenant fell with it. (Russell, p. 892.)

Thus, the authority Appellant cites is contrary to the point she

asserts. The first right of refusal in Russell terminated with the lease.

Appellant also relies on Cummings v. Nielsen, 42 Utah 157, 129 P 619 (1912) which dealt with personal property rather than realty, and also is distinguished from our case in that the agreement stated no limit of time. Therefore, Cummings does not control here.

Turning now to our Sullivan lease, paragraph 13 grants the first right of refusal "upon the expiration of this lease." Reading that clause with the next paragraph 14, the lease says, "Upon the expiration of the lease (or before if mutually agreed upon). . .", the lessee can purchase at a certain price.

This language sets forth two conditions:

1. If mutually agreed upon, and
2. Upon expiration of the lease or before.

At the happening of the one event, i.e., the expiration of the lease, the other condition did not happen. There was no mutual agreement. The right ceased by the terms of the provisions creating it. Appellant contends the right sprang into being at the expiration of the lease and continued indefinitely thereafter. However, the lease language controls. The right was in existence before the expiration (if the parties agree) and upon the expiration. Nowhere does it say, after expiration. The lease expired and so did the first right.

POINT III

THE RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL TO A LEASE OR SALE
SHOULD NOT SURVIVE THE LEASE TERM, AS A
MATTER OF PUBLIC POLICY, ABSENT
EXPRESS PROVISION TO THE CONTRARY.

A continuing first right of refusal to a lease or sale in all lessees

under the standard residential leases would create havoc in the area of landlord ownership rights. The lease used by the parties was patterned after a standard residential lease of Prowswood.

It would be ludicrous to have such a right exist in lessee after a termination of the lease, after a complaint for unlawful detainer, as in this case, after non-payment of rent, and even after abandonment of the premises by lessee.

As Judge Durham stated, "It certainly could not be argued that if at any time, no matter how distant in the future, Defendant desires to lease again, she would have to lease it to Plaintiff." (Memorandum Decision, Op. cit. lines 13-16) The right of first refusal to lease goes hand in hand with the right of first refusal to sell. If one terminates at the expiration of the lease so does the other.

POINT IV

ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS ARE TO BE PAID BY PLAINTIFF AS PROVIDED BY CONTRACT BETWEEN THE PARTIES

Attorney's fees are allowed when authorized by statute or by the express terms of a contract, Cliff v. Culmer, 556 P 2d 498 (1976) Utah, Blake v. Blake, 17 Utah 2d 369.

Where the lease provides that the lessee shall pay attorney's fees in an action to enforce the lease, the lessee was indeed found liable in Milliner v. Farmer, 471 P 2d 151, 24 Utah 2d 326, over the objection that the right to recover attorney's fees expired at termination of this lease.

The lease agreement of the parties signed by the Plaintiff requires her as lessee, to pay for the services of an attorney and costs in an action

"9. Should the lessor be required to employ the service of an attorney to enforce performance of this agreement or be compelled to sustain action at law to collect said rents or for any other cause, the lessee shall pay all costs in connection therewith."

Plaintiff instigated this action and has pursued for 20 months. She is seeking damages under the lease, and should be bound by the provisions for attorney's fees. A reasonable attorney's fee for the many appearances and voluminous paper work this case has engendered is suggested at \$2,500.00 or other amount the Court deems reasonable. The District Court did not consider this issue in the Memorandum Granting Summary Judgment.

SUMMARY

The issue of law is whether or not a first right of refusal to sign a new lease or accept a sale of the premises upon the expiration of the lease continues beyond that expiration, beyond a trial determining the rights of each party under the lease, and beyond the abandonment of the premises by lessee, to an indefinite time in the future whenever the owner may desire to sell or lease.

To allow such a continuing right in the lessee is an untenable limitation on the rights of the owner to dispose of his property.

Respectfully submitted,

Carol B. Olson

Carol B. Olson of
ROBINSON, GUYON, SUMMERHAYS & BARNES
Attorney for Defendant-Respondent
1220 Continental Bank Building
Salt Lake City, Utah 84101